1

INFORMATION SHEET

UNITED STATES DISTRICT COURT EASTERN DISTRICT OF NEW YORK

- 1. Title of Case: <u>United States v. Fan Liu, et al.</u>
- 2. Related Magistrate Docket Number(s): 22-MJ-257 (MMH) 22-MJ-665 (CLP)
- 3. [EDNY] Arrest Date:
- 4. Nature of offense(s): \square Felony \square Misdemeanor
- 5. Related Cases Title and Docket No(s). (Pursuant to Rule 50.3.2 of the Local E.D.N.Y. Division of Business Rules): N/A
- 6. Projected Length of Trial: Less than 6 weeks \square More than 6 weeks \square
- County in which crime was allegedly committed: Brooklyn, Queens and Nassau County
 (Pursuant to Rule 50.1(d) of the Local E.D.N.Y. Division of Business Rules)
- 8. Was any aspect of the investigation, inquiry and prosecution giving rise to the case pending or initiated before March 10, 2012.¹ \Box Yes \boxtimes No
- 9. Has this indictment/information been ordered sealed? \Box Yes \boxtimes No
- 10. Have arrest warrants been ordered? \square Yes \square No
- 11. Is there a capital count included in the indictment? \Box Yes \boxtimes No

By:

BREON PEACE	
UNITED STATES ATTORNEY	

Alexander Solomon Emily J. Dean Assistant U.S. Attorneys (718) 254-6074/6120

Judge Brodie will not accept cases that were initiated before March 10, 2012.

FILED

4:59 pm, Jul 06, 2022

U.S. DISTRICT COURT

EASTERN DISTRICT OF NEW YORK

1:22-cr-00311(LDH)(VMS)

DMP:AAS/EJD F. #2021R00184

UNITED STATES DISTRICT COURT EASTERN DISTRICT OF NEW YORK

UNITED STATES OF AMERICA

- against -

FAN LIU, also known as "Frank Liu," CRAIG MILLER, QIANG SUN, also known as "Jason Sun," DERRICK TAYLOR and MATTHEW ZIBURIS,

Defendants.

-----X

THE GRAND JURY CHARGES:

COUNT ONE

(Conspiracy To Act as Agents of a Foreign Government)

1. In or about and between January 2021 and March 2022, both dates being

approximate and inclusive, within the Eastern District of New York and elsewhere, the defendants FAN LIU, also known as "Frank Liu," and MATTHEW ZIBURIS, together with others, did knowingly and willfully conspire to act in the United States as agents of a foreign government, to wit: the government of the People's Republic of China ("PRC"), without prior notification to the Attorney General of the United States, as required by law, contrary to Title 18, United States Code, Section 951(a).

2. In furtherance of the conspiracy and to effect its objects, within the Eastern District of New York and elsewhere, the defendants FAN LIU, also known as "Frank

FILED

4:59 pm, Jul 06, 2022

U.S. DISTRICT COURT

EASTERN DISTRICT OF NEW YORK

<u>INDICTMENT</u> **1:22-cr-00311(LDH)(VMS)**

(T. 18, U.S.C., §§ 371, 981(a)(1)(C), 982(a)(2)(B), 982(b)(1), 1001(a)(2), 1028(a)(7), 1028(b)(2)(B), 1028(b)(5), 1028(c)(3)(A), 1512(c)(1), 1512(c)(2), 2 and 3553 <u>et seq</u>.; T. 21, U.S.C., § 853(p); T. 28, U.S.C., § 2461(c)) Liu," and MATTHEW ZIBURIS, together with others, did commit and cause the commission of, among others, the following:

OVERT ACTS

a. In or about and between January 2021 and March 2022, LIU received instructions from QIANG SUN, also known as "Jason Sun," to obtain derogatory information about and surveil Chinese dissidents within the United States, including Dissident-1, Dissident-2 and Dissident-3, individuals whose identities are known to the Grand Jury.

b. In or about January 2021, LIU paid a private investigator (the "Investigator") to obtain the personal identifying information of Chinese dissidents.

c. In or about and between January 2021 and March 2021, LIU requested that the Investigator obtain Internal Revenue Service ("IRS") reports on Chinese dissidents.

d. In or about and between February 2021 and April 2021, LIU and ZIBURIS communicated about a plan to surveil Dissident-1 in California.

e. On or about March 2, 2021, LIU provided ZIBURIS with personal identifying information belonging to Dissident-1.

f. In or about and between March 2021 and November 2021, LIU paid a coconspirator ("CC-1"), an individual whose identity is known to the Grand Jury, to provide LIU with personal identifying information for Chinese dissidents.

g. In or about July 2021, at LIU's request, CC-1 tasked DERRICK TAYLOR with obtaining immigration and customs information about Dissident-2.

h. In or about July 2021, TAYLOR obtained the information about Dissident-2 by having a coconspirator ("CC-2"), an individual whose identity is known to the Grand Jury, access information about Dissident-2 via a law enforcement database and transmit it to TAYLOR, who in turn transmitted it to CC-1.

i. In or about and between July 2021 and October 2021, LIU and ZIBURIS communicated about a plan to surveil Dissident-2.

j. In or about August 2021, ZIBURIS emailed LIU with surveillance reports regarding ZIBURIS' surveillance of Dissident-2.

k. In or about October 2021, LIU paid CC-1 to travel to Indiana and surveil Dissident-2.

l. In or about October 2021, LIU and ZIBURIS communicated about a plan to surveil Dissident-3.

m. In or about and between October 2021 and November 2021, LIU paid CC-1 to obtain passport information for Dissident-3 and a member of Dissident-3's family ("the Daughter").

n. In or about and between October 2021 and November 2021, CC-1 obtained Dissident-3's and the Daughter's passport information for LIU by paying TAYLOR, who then obtained the passport information by having CRAIG MILLER access it via a law enforcement database and transmit it to TAYLOR.

(Title 18, United States Code, Sections 371 and 3553 et seq.)

<u>COUNT TWO</u> (Conspiracy To Engage in Interstate Harassment)

3. In or about and between January 2021 and March 2022, both dates being approximate and inclusive, within the Eastern District of New York and elsewhere, the defendants FAN LIU, also known as "Frank Liu," QIANG SUN, also known as "Jason Sun," and MATTHEW ZIBURIS, together with others, did knowingly and willfully conspire to travel

in interstate and foreign commerce, with the intent to harass and intimidate one or more persons, to wit: Dissident-1, Dissident-2 and Dissident-3, and in the course of and as a result of such travel, to engage in conduct that would cause, would attempt to cause and would be reasonably expected to cause the dissidents substantial emotional distress, contrary to Title 18, United States Code, Section 2261A(1)(B).

4. In furtherance of the conspiracy and to effect its objects, within the Eastern District of New York and elsewhere, the defendants FAN LIU, also known as "Frank Liu," QIANG SUN, also known as "Jason Sun," and MATTHEW ZIBURIS, together with others, did commit and cause the commission of, among others, the following:

OVERT ACTS

a. In or about and between February 2021 and April 2021, LIU and ZIBURIS communicated about a plan to surveil Dissident-1.

b. In or about March 2021, LIU and ZIBURIS designed a fake business card to assist ZIBURIS in the surveillance of Dissident-1.

c. In or about March 2021, ZIBURIS traveled to California to surveil Dissident-1.

d. In or about March 2021, ZIBURIS placed a GPS tracking device on the vehicle of Dissident-1.

e. In or about March 2021, SUN established an email account for the purpose of accessing the GPS account related to the device placed by ZIBURIS on Dissident-1's vehicle.

f. In or about March 2021, SUN accessed the GPS account and data associated with the device placed by ZIBURIS on Dissident-1's vehicle.

g. In or about March 2021, ZIBURIS photographed and audio recorded Dissident-1 in California.

h. In or about and between January 2021 and March 2022, LIU communicated with SUN about destroying artwork located in California created by Dissident-1.

i. In or about and between July 2021 and October 2021, LIU and ZIBURIS communicated about a plan to surveil Dissident-2.

j. In or about August 2021, ZIBURIS traveled to Indiana to surveil Dissident-2.

k. In or about August 2021, ZIBURIS photographed and video recorded Dissident-2.

l. In or about August 2021, ZIBURIS emailed LIU with surveillance reports regarding ZIBURIS' surveillance of Dissident-2.

m. In or about October 2021, LIU paid CC-1 to travel to Indiana and surveil Dissident-2.

n. In or about October 2021, LIU and ZIBURIS communicated about a plan to surveil Dissident-3.

o. In or about and between October 2021 and November 2021,

ZIBURIS traveled to California to conduct surveillance on Dissident-3.

p. In or about October 2021, ZIBURIS possessed a fake identification card for an international sports committee for the purpose of convincing Dissident-3 to provide ZIBURIS with passport information.

(Title 18, United States Code, Sections 371 and 3553 et seq.)

<u>COUNT THREE</u> (Misuse of Means of Identification)

5. In or about and between January 2021 and March 2022, both dates being approximate and inclusive, within the Eastern District of New York and elsewhere, the defendants FAN LIU, also known as "Frank Liu," QIANG SUN, also known as "Jason Sun," and MATTHEW ZIBURIS, together with others, did knowingly and intentionally transfer, possess and use, without lawful authority and in and affecting interstate and foreign commerce, one or more means of identification of another person, to wit: telephone numbers and other contact information belonging to one or more U.S.-based Chinese dissidents, individuals whose identities are known to the Grand Jury, with the intent to commit, and aid and abet, and in connection with, unlawful activity that constituted one or more violations of Federal law, to wit: the crime charged in Count One.

(Title 18, United States Code, Sections 1028(a)(7), 1028(b)(2)(B), 1028(c)(3)(A), 2 and 3553 et seq.)

<u>COUNT FOUR</u> (Conspiracy to Bribe a Public Official)

6. In or about and between January 2021 and March 2021, both dates being approximate and inclusive, within the Eastern District of New York and elsewhere, the defendants FAN LIU, also known as "Frank Liu," and QIANG SUN, also known as "Jason Sun," together with others, did knowingly and willfully conspire to commit an offense against the United States, to wit: to offer and promise an employee of the IRS a bribe payment with the intent to induce the employee to do any act in violation of the lawful duty of such employee, to wit: the unlawful dissemination of Dissident-1's tax returns, contrary to Title 18, United States Code, Section 201(b)(1)(C). 7. In furtherance of the conspiracy and to effect its objects, within the Eastern District of New York and elsewhere, the defendants FAN LIU, also known as "Frank Liu," and QIANG SUN, also known as "Jason Sun," together with others, did commit and cause the commission of, among others, the following:

OVERT ACTS

a. On or about March 2, 2021, LIU called the Investigator on behalf of SUN and asked the Investigator to obtain Dissident-1's tax returns.

b. On or about March 5, 2021, LIU spoke with the Investigator and discussed a plan to pay the Investigator's purported contact at the IRS \$3,500 for Dissident-1's tax returns.

c. In or about March 2021, LIU paid the Investigator \$1,500 via a digital payment application to obtain IRS tax returns for Dissident-1.

(Title 18, United States Code, Sections 371 and 3553 et seq.)

COUNT FIVE

(Attempt To Obstruct Justice)

8. In or about April 2022, within the Eastern District of New York and elsewhere, the defendant DERRICK TAYLOR did knowingly, intentionally and corruptly attempt to obstruct, influence and impede an official proceeding, to wit: a Federal Grand Jury investigation in the Eastern District of New York.

(Title 18, United States Code, Sections 1512(c)(2) and 3553 et seq.)

COUNT SIX (Obstruction of Justice)

9. On or about June 17, 2022, within the Eastern District of New York and elsewhere, the defendant CRAIG MILLER did knowingly, intentionally and corruptly alter,

destroy, mutilate and conceal a record, document and other object, to wit: one or more text messages between MILLER and DERRICK TAYLOR, with the intent to impair the object's integrity and availability for use in an official proceeding, to wit: a Federal Grand Jury investigation in the Eastern District of New York.

(Title 18, United States Code, Sections 1512(c)(1) and 3553 et seq.)

(COUNT SEVEN) (False Statement)

10. On or about April 11, 2022, within the Eastern District of New York and elsewhere, the defendant DERRICK TAYLOR did knowingly and willfully make a materially false, fictitious and fraudulent statement and representation, in a matter within the jurisdiction of the executive branch of the Government of the United States, to wit: the Federal Bureau of Investigation ("FBI"), in that TAYLOR falsely stated and represented to FBI Special Agents that he had obtained U.S. passport information of one or more other persons through the "Black Dark Web" when, in fact, as he well knew and believed, TAYLOR obtained the information from another individual who had used a confidential law enforcement database.

(Title 18, United States Code, Sections 1001(a)(2) and 3553 et seq.)

CRIMINAL FORFEITURE ALLEGATION AS TO COUNT THREE

11. The United States hereby gives notice to FAN LIU, also known as "Frank Liu," QIANG SUN, also known as "Jason Sun," and MATTHEW ZIBURIS that, upon their conviction of the offense charged in Count Three, the government will seek forfeiture in accordance with: (a) Title 18, United States Code, Section 982(a)(2)(B), which requires any person convicted of such offense to forfeit any property constituting, or derived from, proceeds obtained directly or indirectly as a result of such offense; and (b) Title 18, United States Code, Section 1028(b)(5), which requires any person convicted of such offense to forfeit any personal property used or intended to be used to commit the offense.

12. If any of the above-described forfeitable property, as a result of any act or omission of the defendants FAN LIU, also known as "Frank Liu," QIANG SUN, also known as "Jason Sun," and MATTHEW ZIBURIS:

- a. cannot be located upon the exercise of due diligence;
- b. has been transferred or sold to, or deposited with, a third party;
- c. has been placed beyond the jurisdiction of the court;
- d. has been substantially diminished in value; or
- e. has been commingled with other property which cannot be divided

without difficulty;

it is the intent of the United States, pursuant to Title 21, United States Code, Section 853(p), as incorporated by Title 18, United States Code, Section 982(b)(1), to seek forfeiture of any other property of the defendants FAN LIU, also known as "Frank Liu," QIANG SUN, also known as "Jason Sun," and MATTHEW ZIBURIS up to the value of the forfeitable property described in this forfeiture allegation.

(Title 18, United States Code, Sections 982(a)(2)(B), 982(b)(1) and 1028(b)(5); Title 21, United States Code, Section 853(p))

CRIMINAL FORFEITURE ALLEGATION AS TO COUNTS FIVE AND SIX

13. The United States hereby gives notice to the defendants charged in Counts Five and Six that, upon their conviction of either of those offenses, the government will seek forfeiture in accordance with Title 18, United States Code, Section 981(a)(1)(C) and Title 28, United States Code, Section 2461(c), which require any person convicted of such offenses to forfeit any property, real or personal, constituting, or derived from, proceeds obtained directly or indirectly as a result of such offenses.

14. If any of the above-described forfeitable property, as a result of any act or omission of the defendants:

- a. cannot be located upon the exercise of due diligence;
- b. has been transferred or sold to, or deposited with, a third party;
- c. has been placed beyond the jurisdiction of the court;
- d. has been substantially diminished in value; or
- e. has been commingled with other property which cannot be divided

without difficulty;

it is the intent of the United States, pursuant to Title 21, United States Code, Section 853(p), to seek forfeiture of any other property of the defendants up to the value of the forfeitable property described in this forfeiture allegation.

(Title 18, United States Code, Section 981(a)(1)(C); Title 21, United States Code, Section 853(p); Title 28, United States Code, Section 2461(c))

A TRUE BILL

FOREPERSON

BREON PEACE/ UNITED STATES ATTORNEY EASTERN DISTRICT OF NEW YORK

JUN. 85 F.#: 2021R00184 FORM DBD-34

No.

UNITED STATES DISTRICT COURT

EASTERN District of NEW YORK

CRIMINAL DIVISION

THE UNITED STATES OF AMERICA

VS.

FAN LIU, CRAIG MILLER, QIANG "JASON" SUN, DERRICK TAYLOR and MATTHEW ZIBURIS,

Defendants.

INDICTMENT

(T. 18, U.S.C. §§ 371, 981(a)(1)(C), 982(a)(2)(B), 982(b)(1), 1001(a)(2), 1028(a)(7), 1028(b)(2)(B), 1028(b)(5), 1028(c)(3)(A), 1512(c)(1), 1512(c)(2), 2 and 3553, et seq.; T. 21, U.S.C., § 853(p); T. 28, U.S.C., § 2461(c))

A true bill.

Foreperson man

of A.D. 20_

Bail, S

Clerk

Alexander Solomon / Emily J. Dean, Assistant U.S. Attorneys (718) 254-7000

day,

Filed in open court this

AO 442 (Rev. 11/11) Arrest Warrant

UNITED STATES DISTRICT COURT

for the

Eastern District of New York

United States of America v. QIANG SUN.

also known as "Jason Sun"

Case No. 1:22-cr-00311(LDH)(VMS)

Defendant

ARREST WARRANT

To: Any authorized law enforcement officer

YOU ARE COMMANDED to arrest and bring before a United States magistrate judge without unnecessary delay

(name of person to be arrested) Qiang Sun, also known as "Jason Sun" who is accused of an offense or violation based on the following document filed with the court: Indictment Superseding Indictment □ Information □ Superseding Information **D** Complaint Probation Violation Petition □ Supervised Release Violation Petition □ Violation Notice □ Order of the Court This offense is briefly described as follows: 18 U.S.C. §§ 2261(A)(1)(b), 371 (conspiracy to engage in interstate harassment) 18 U.S.C. § 1028(a)(7) (misuse of means of identification) 18 U.S.C. §§ 201(b)(1)(C), 371 (conspiracy to bribe a public official) Issuing officer's signature Date: 07/06/2022 City and state: Brooklyn, New York

Return This warrant was received on (date) , and the person was arrested on (date) at (city and state) Date: Arresting officer's signature Printed name and title

FILED

4:58 pm, Jul 06, 2022

U.S. DISTRICT COURT

EASTERN DISTRICT OF NEW YORK

in.

This second page contains personal identifiers provided for law-enforcement use only and therefore should not be filed in court with the executed warrant unless under seal.

(Not for Public Disclosure)

Name of defendant/offender:		
Known aliases:		
Last known residence:		
Prior addresses to which defendant/offender may still have ties:		
Last known employment:		
Last known telephone numbers:		
Place of birth:		
Date of birth:		
Social Security number:		
Height:	Weight:	
Sex:	Race:	
Hair:	Eyes:	
Scars, tattoos, other distinguishing marks:		
	-	
History of violence, weapons, drug use:		
Known family, friends, and other associates (name, relation, address, phone number):		
FBI number:		
Complete description of auto:		
Investigative agency and address:		
Name and telephone numbers (office and cell) of pretrial services or probation officer (<i>if applicable</i>):		
Date of last contact with pretrial services or probation officer (<i>if applicable</i>):		